THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001665
Case No. 2016-CP-42-2478

RECEIVED
JAN 08 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Betty Jean Perkins, Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

William McBee Smith
SMITH & HASKELL LAW FIRM, LLP
218 East Henry Street
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
(864) 582-6727

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying an involuntary nonsuit and judgment as a matter of law to the South Carolina Department of Transportation based upon the absence of any competent evidence of a defective or hazardous condition posed by the catch basin in the center median of Interstate-85?

- II. Did the trial court err in denying an involuntary nonsuit and judgment as a matter of law to the South Carolina Department of Transportation where the evidence establishes that Perkins' accident was not reasonably foreseeable within the contemplation of the law?

- III. Did the trial court err in failing to find that Perkins' claim is barred or otherwise limited by her comparative negligence?

- IV. Did the trial court err in failing to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law in violation of Rule 52(a), SCRPC?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a negligence action brought by the Respondent Betty Jean Perkins against the Appellant South Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”) pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-10, *et seq.*

This civil action arises from an accident that occurred on March 1, 2012, when Perkins had a left rear tire blow out while driving on Interstate-85 in Spartanburg County. Perkins stopped her vehicle partially in the left lane of travel near the concrete median barrier. The shoulder along the concrete median barrier is not wide enough for a vehicle. That shoulder is for water drainage and not for a motorist to stop or take refuge. The shoulder includes a catch basin immediately adjacent to the concrete median barrier. Perkins alleges that that she left her vehicle and stepped onto a catch basin. Perkins claims her foot became stuck in the opening of catch basin, which caused her to fall and sustain injury.

On October 7, 2013, Perkins filed a Complaint alleging a cause of action for negligence against SCDOT. After the completion of discovery, the parties consented to a non-jury trial. The case was tried as a bench trial before Circuit Court Judge Grace Gilchrist Knie on February 12, 2018. On February 15, 2018, Judge Knie electronically filed a “Verdict Form” finding in favor of Betty Jean Perkins and awarding \$93,362.97 in actual damages. The “Verdict Form” also

stated that SCDOT was negligent in proximately causing the “collision” but found no comparative negligence for Perkins. (Verdict Form). Later, on April 19, 2018, Judge Knie issued an order that includes a discussion of the facts and legal issues but which did not specifically state the findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by Rule 52(a), SCRPC.

On April 30, 2018, the Appellant SCDOT filed a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and/or Involuntary Nonsuit, Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and/or Motion for Reconsideration, and Motion for New Trial. Those post-trial motions were heard by Judge Knie on July 20, 2018. On August 10, 2018, she issued an Order Denying Defendant’s Post-Trial Motions which summarily denied SCDOT’s post-trial motions but included no factual or legal analysis of any of the issues and defenses argued at length by the parties at the hearing and in written submissions. SCDOT thereafter filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Order pursuant to both Rule 52(b) and Rule 59(e). That motion was also summarily denied by Judge Knie.

The Appellant SCDOT has filed a timely appeal to this Court from each of the orders issued by Judge Knie and challenging the judgment entered in favor of Betty Jean Perkins.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent Betty Jean Perkins had a flat tire while driving on Interstate-85 at 9:10 p.m. on March 1, 2012. Rather than pull her vehicle off to the right shoulder of Interstate-85, she pulled her vehicle to the far left lane and stopped her vehicle along the concrete median barrier in the middle of highway. Perkins exited her vehicle and stepped onto a catch basin which is located along the concrete median barrier. Perkins claims her foot became stuck in the opening of catch basin, which caused her to fall and sustain injury.

Perkins claims that the catch basin where she fell along the Interstate-85 median was defective. SCDOT's Assistant District Maintenance Engineer, Michael Holden, searched SCDOT inspection records for all catch basins within one mile in each direction of Mile Marker 61, where Perkins' accident occurred. (Tr. 58:16-19; 59:6-13). His search retrieved records for 27 inspections that were performed within this section of Interstate-85 between June 10, 2010 and July 24, 2013. (Tr. 59:24 to 60:7). Ten of these 27 inspections occurred between June 10, 2010 and the date of the accident on March 1, 2012. (Tr. 60:8-23). Each of these inspections covered roadway drainage, drain culverts, and catch basins, including the catch basin where Perkins fell. (Tr. 59:6-13). An initial inspection was also performed at the time construction was completed and the roadway was turned

over by the contractor to the state, to confirm that the roadway was built according to specification tolerances. (Tr. 62:7 to 63:17).

Holden found one report dated August 24, 2010 (which was 19 months before Perkins' accident) that stated that the lid to the catch basin was off and had to be moved back in place. (Tr. 70:20 to 71:19). The catch basins along the Interstate-85 median are a Type 15 Catch Basin with two heavy iron grates weighing a total of 230 pounds. (Tr. 53:4-7). Holden found no other report of any work having to be done for the catch basin in question or for any other catch basin in the area around the scene of Perkins' accident. (Tr. 74:16-22).

Holden also testified about a photograph of the catch basin in question that he took shortly after Perkins' accident. (Tr. 75:23 to 76:1). He was asked whether he saw "anything about that photograph there that would require SCDOT maintenance to fix," and he answered "no." (Tr. 75:2-5). He further testified that he is not aware of any document or evidence possessed by SCDOT that would indicate there is any error or defect with the catch basin in question. (Tr. 75:13-15).

Holden was also asked whether a gap between the concrete edge of the catch basin box and the concrete median was wider than the design plans specified. (Tr. 76:2-14; 77:19-22). He replied that he did not know, but he testified that the gap was not a defect. (Tr. 77:13-14; 78:2-4). Holden specifically denied that the

photograph of the catch basin indicated any defect that needed to be repaired. He explained that a structural defect would be "if it is broken, if it was – there was debris in front of it, if it's not draining properly, you know, say, it's stopped up and, you know, water's not going down, from a maintenance standpoint, that is a defect." (Tr. 79: 21-25).

SCDOT's Preconstruction Support Engineer, G. Robert Bedenbaugh, examined the plans to the Type 15 Catch Basin and that section of roadway along Interstate-85. (Tr. 28:7-8; 38:6-11). He noted that these plans are used uniformly across the state. (Tr. 40:1-3). Bedenbaugh has been a design engineer for about 23 years. (Tr. 52:12-15). He testified that the plans show gaps in the grates (3.5 inches wide), and a distance of six inches from the edge of the metal grate to the concrete barrier. (Tr. 43:8-24). He was questioned about the photograph of the catch basin on which Perkins fell, and he testified that he could not speculate as to how wide the gap is in the photograph. (Tr. 44:7-11). He indicated that "[i]t's just hard to say with the angle of the photograph." (Tr. 46:20). When asked based on the photographs whether the catch basin was constructed to the precise design specifications, Bedenbaugh stated: "Without dimensions on the photograph it's very difficult to say that." (Tr. 47:22-23).

Robert Bedenbaugh directly addressed the issue of whether the photographs of the catch basin where Perkins fell show any defect. He testified as follows:

Q. When you looked at the pictures that Plaintiff showed you of the storm grate, from your experience did you see any design defect or defect in the storm catch basin?

A. No. It looks reasonable for what that device is supposed to be.

Q. And would you expect DOT maintenance to make any alterations to what you see in those photographs?

A. Not unless a specific problem was pointed out.

(Tr. 52:16-23).

The Type 15 Catch Basin was designed to allow maximum drainage on the interstate. (Tr. 49:10-12). The catch basin in question is located in the narrow shoulder adjacent to the concrete median barrier that is not wide enough for a vehicle to park so that it is completely out of the adjacent travel lane. (Tr. 66:2-8; 67:16-20; 68:17-18). That area is designed for the sole purpose of drainage, not for vehicles or pedestrian travel. (Tr. 34:11-16; 35:14-22; 51:24 to 52:2; 66:7-8). Bedenbaugh testified that Interstate-85 is a controlled access highway for purposes of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2530, which generally prohibits stopping a vehicle on such a highway. (Tr. 51:16 to 52:2).

Michael Holden also testified that motorists should not pull over into the far left shoulder because "there's not really enough room to pull a car to the left." (Tr. 67:18-20). Similarly, Robert Bedenbaugh testified that the left shoulder is "not wide enough for refuge" because a vehicle there would be partially blocking the far

left lane of travel. (Tr. 31:8; 32:7-9). Bedenbaugh explained that the outside (right) shoulder would be typically used for a motorist to take refuge. (Tr. 31:19-20; 32:13-14).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of appellate review for an action at law on appeal of a case tried without a jury provides that the appellate court will not disturb the judge's findings of fact unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

“In deciding whether to grant or deny a motion for nonsuit, the trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.” *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 345 S.C. 484, 548 S.E.2d 605, 608 (Ct. App. 2001). “If there is no relevant competent evidence reasonably tending to establish the material elements of the plaintiff’s case, a motion for nonsuit must be granted.” *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court erred in denying an involuntary nonsuit and judgment as a matter of law to the South Carolina Department of Transportation based upon the absence of any competent evidence of a defective or hazardous condition posed by the catch basin in the center median of Interstate-85.

The trial court concluded that the catch basin in the center median of Interstate-85 was defective because “it does not match the design indicated on the plans.” (Order, p. 3). The trial court noted “the presence of a large gap between the concrete drainage basin and the concrete center median” which the court concluded is “a deviation from the design plans.” (Order, p. 3). The record, however, does not include any competent evidence to support those findings and conclusions, and judgment should have been entered for the Appellant SCDOT.¹

In its order, the trial court determined “this particular gap is drastically wider than the analogous openings within the drainage grate itself” and that the “gap presents a hazard to the traveling public.” (Order, p. 3). This finding is purely

¹ The Respondent Perkins did not allege or present evidence of a design defect. At any rate, SCDOT cannot be held liable for a defective design. The South Carolina Tort Claims Act expressly states that “[g]overnmental entities are not liable for the design of highways and other public ways.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15). *See also, Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55, 58 (1997) (“As for negligent design, the Act provides absolute governmental immunity from liability for loss resulting from the design of highways and other public ways. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15). Therefore, even if the Highway Department was on notice the design of the intersection was dangerous, the Highway Department was immune from suit for negligent design”). In addition, Perkins did not present any expert testimony to show that the design was defective.

speculative and not based on competent evidence in the record. Specifically, the Respondent Betty Perkins presented no measurements to establish any deviations from the design specifications. Perkins presented as Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit #5 a series of photographs taken by "R. Dixon" on May 28, 2014, which includes photographs of the catch basin taken from various angles, perspectives, and distances. Perkins did not present, however, any measurements of the portions of the catch basin, including the "gap" which the trial court deemed to be a "hazard." Dixon was available at trial to testify, but he was inexplicably not called and apparently was dismissed by Perkins' counsel before the start of her case-in-chief. *See*, Tr. 26:23-24 ("I'm going to go ahead and let Mr. Dixon exit the court").

In addition to not presenting any measurements that Dixon could have taken while at the scene, Perkins presented no photographs displaying a ruler or other measuring device to provide the specific measurements of the various openings and other portions of the catch basin. Remarkably, Perkins' theory of liability is premised on the failure of the catch basin to be constructed to the *precise* dimensions reflected in the design specifications; *yet, absolutely no competent evidence was submitted as to the as-built dimensions*. The trial court, as the fact finder, was left to guess and speculate -- which is precisely what the court did.

In effect, the trial court erred by making a finding that the opening or "gap" was not constructed to its design specifications *based solely on photographs*. The

trial court failed to consider that a photograph is a two-dimensional representation of a three-dimensional object, and as a result, the angle, perspective, and distance from which a photograph is taken impacts the ability to accurately measure what appears on the photograph. In her post-trial brief, Perkins asserts that the grate, frame and beam of the catch basin “present scales with which the Court may infer approximate measures.” *See*, Plaintiff’s Response Mem., p. 9. The obvious fallacy in that argument is that the trial court was never provided the actual measurements of those components. The trial court could only speculate that those components, including the “openings within the drainage grate itself,” were constructed precisely as the design specifications state. Moreover, the trial court was offered no evidence of any measurements taken of those components as built. Therefore, the “scales” suggested by Perkins do not exist.

At any rate, a photograph cannot be “eye-balled” to determine accurate measurements. The reason for that is obvious – photographs are distorted based upon such concepts as perspective (or parallax) and angle. For Perkins to have used the photographs in the record to determine measurements, it was necessary to call an expert witness in the field of photogrammetry, which has been described as “an accepted technique generally used for deriving measurements from photographs” which is “heavily published and widely used.” *Aviva Sports, Inc. v. Fingerhut Direct Marketing, Inc.*, 829 F.Supp.2d 802, 829 (D. Minn. 2011). *See*

also, *United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Soco West, Inc.*, 2010 WL 11537439, *1, n.1 (D. Mont. 2010) (“Photogrammetry is the science of taking measurements from photographs”). Photogrammetry has also been described in case law as involving the use of “the law of perspective and the measurement of objects of known size in a photograph in order to make measurements of other objects.” *United States v. Johnson*, 114 F.3d 808, 811 (8th Cir. 1997). “[P]hotogrammetry is a science based on triangulation which measures an object in a space where a photograph was taken. A photogrammetrist uses the lines of sight to mathematically produce three-dimensional coordinates to determine specific characteristics like the height of an object or individual.” *State v. Thornton*, 2013 WL 2636129, *3 (Ohio App. 2013). “Photogrammetry is the science of evaluating distances, angles, and measurements derived from comparison of photographs with objects of known dimensions.” *Vincente v. City of Rome*, 2005 WL 6032876, *6 (N.D. Ga. 2005). “Photogrammetry [is] the science of making accurate measurements through the use of photographs. The photographs may be taken from overhead (satellites, airplanes) or from the ground and from a variety of perspectives (including from the side, from directly overhead, or from overhead at an oblique angle).” *Pictometry Int. Corp. v. Geospan Corp.*, 2012 WL 3679208, *1 (D. Minn. 2012).

In sum, as the foregoing case law demonstrates, Perkins expected the trial court to engage in the science of photogrammetry to derive the measurements from a photograph, and that is precisely what the trial court erroneously did in concluding – based on the photographic evidence alone – that "this particular gap is drastically wider than the analogous openings within the drainage grate itself." (Order, p. 3). Perkins, however, never presented an expert in photogrammetry, and absent the testimony of an expert in that scientific field, the trial court could not evaluate the photographic evidence as a photogrammetrist would. The trial court did not possess such expertise. Thus, in its role as a fact finder, the trial court simply could not infer measurements just from eye-balling a two-dimensional photograph, but that is precisely what occurred and that constitutes reversible error.

Consequently, it is clear and should be beyond dispute that Perkins failed to present competent evidence by which the trial court could rule by the preponderance of the evidence (rather than pure speculation) that the "gap" is wider than the design specifications provide. From a practical standpoint, this should, in fact, be clear by looking at the photographs. The angle from which the photographs were taken and the perspective of the photographs reflect that the mere eye-balling of measurements could not possibly be accurate or even approximations. The section of the opening or "gap," as the trial court called it, is designed to be built with the concrete sloping downward into the box.

Specifically, the beam detail shows that the top of the beam at the entry point of the “gap” is angled downward into the box. (Plaintiff’s Tr. Ex. #2). Likewise, the base of the concrete barrier is built with a 45-degree angle at its base, which forms the top of the “gap” that slopes into the box. (Plaintiff’s Tr. Ex. #2). In effect, that sloping of the concrete, particularly when photographed from various angles affects the ability to make an accurate measurement of the size of the actual opening from the two-dimensional photograph.

As indicated above, Perkins has previously argued that the trial court “may infer approximate measures.” (Plaintiff’s Post-Trial Memo, p. 9). However, Perkins’ entire claim against SCDOT is premised on her position that the as-built “gap” or opening is wider than the design specifications so as to create a construction defect for which SCDOT should have had notice and taken corrective action. To present proof of such a deviation from the design specifications, it is necessary to present more than a mere approximation.

Furthermore, that highlights an additional criticism SCDOT has with the trial court’s ruling. The trial court ruled that the "gap presents a hazard to the traveling public." (Order, p. 3). However, the trial court never makes a finding as to the extent of the deviation from the design specifications and offers no ruling as to what point a deviation becomes hazardous or unreasonably dangerous so as to be actionable. For instance, if the deviation is a mere inch is that sufficient to

create a hazard. How about two inches or three inches? How about half an inch? Despite being requested to do so in SCDOT's Rule 52(b) motion, the trial court never explained why the deviation it found, which was never stated with any specificity, was indeed hazardous. Clearly, there is not a strict liability standard that applies in this instance – Perkins brought a negligence claim. In other words, why would a four-inch gap be hazardous while a three-inch gap is not – particularly given the attendant circumstances where this is a catch basin adjacent to a concrete center median of an interstate highway? In fact, catch basins on municipal streets and neighborhoods throughout the State have openings in catch basins greater than three inches. Why was this opening in the median of an interstate highway a hazard? The trial court never provided that explanation. There is, however, no evidence presented that the deviation from the design specifications, if any, was indeed hazardous or unreasonably dangerous, particularly in a catch basin located in the center median of an interstate highway.

In sum, the evidence presented by Perkins is not competent to prove the measurements of the opening or “gap” or, for that matter, any component of the catch basin. The trial court did not have competent evidence on which to base its decision that the “gap” exceeded the design specifications and constituted a “hazard.” In short, the trial court's findings and conclusions are purely speculative and cannot support the judgment entered.

II. The trial court erred in denying an involuntary nonsuit and judgment as a matter of law to the South Carolina Department of Transportation where the evidence establishes that Perkins' accident was not reasonably foreseeable within the contemplation of the law.

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