THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001665
Case No. 2016-CP-42-2478

RECEIVED
FEB 06 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Betty Jean Perkins,

Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John E. Parker (S.C. Bar #4442)
Neil E. Alger (S.C. Bar # 100530)
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH & DETRICK, P. A.
Post Office Box 457
Hampton, South Carolina 29924
(803) 943-2111
jparker@pmped.com
nalger@pmped.com

Counsel for Respondent.

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED AN INVOLUNTARY NON-SUIT AND JUDGMENT BASED ON THE PRESENCE OF A DEFECTIVE OR HAZARDOUS CONDITION AT THE SCENE OF THIS INCIDENT.

The Trial Court properly denied Defendant's motion for a non-suit because the testimony and evidence indicated there was a hazardous condition created or maintained by the defendant at the scene of this incident.

SCDOT is an entity that is subject to South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. 15-78-10, et. al., and may be held liable on a general negligence theory of liability. Under a negligence theory, SCDOT can be held liable if it knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known, that a hazardous condition existed. *Marsh v. South Carolina Dep't of Highways and Pub. Transp.*, 298 S.C. 420, 380 S.E.2d 867, 868 (Ct. App. 1989). This liability arises from the SCDOT's duty to use reasonable care to keep streets and highways within its control in a reasonably safe condition for public travel. *Inabinett v. State Highway Dep't*, 196 S.C. 117, 12 S.E.2d 848, 851 (1941). Accordingly, SCDOT has a duty to discover and eliminate unreasonable hazards for the safety of the traveling public. SCDOT has a duty to ensure that the traveling public does not confront a condition or hazard that may endanger it. *Gianni v. S.C. Dep't. of Transp.*, 378 S.C. 573, 664 S.E.2d 450, 453-54 (2008). In applying this precedent in conjunction with the Tort Claims Act, the S.C. Supreme Court has held that SCDOT may be liable for "failure to take corrective action subsequent to notice of a defect." *Id.*

Defendant's argument is essentially that the Court could not have found that the large hole in the ground created by an excessively wide overflow gap was a hazardous condition based on the evidence. However, the Court did find that the "gap presents a hazard to the traveling public," i.e. that the hole is large enough for someone to step into it as Ms. Perkins did. The

Court provided multiple factual bases for this finding and in the context of this specific appellate challenge by the Defendant, all inferences must be taken in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff.

First, the trial court discussed that there is evidence from both the testimony and photographs that there is a wider and larger than normal hole on the surface of the roadway because the concrete drainage basin and concrete center median are not flush together. (Order, p. 3). During the trial, testimony was offered by SCDOT employee Mr. Bedenbaugh that the concrete edge of the drainage basin and the concrete median barrier are supposed to be flush against each other with the exception of the emergency overflow gap. (Tr. 42:21 to 43:5). In fact, those two concrete structures are supposed to touch on either side of the overflow gap. (Tr. 43:4-5). But in examining the pictures, Mr. Bedenbaugh acknowledged the clear observation that on either side of the overflow gap, “it’s got some concrete material [he] can see right here between this concrete and that concrete.” (Tr. 45:9-11). Mr. Bedenbaugh also acknowledged that the presence of this material indicates that the overflow gap between the edge of the concrete drainage basin and the concrete median barrier could be wider than the specifications in the plans. (Tr. 47:9-13). This testimonial evidence provided by an SCDOT employee is certainly probative of the fact that the overflow gap is wider than intended because either side of the gap is not touching.

SCDOT has argued that Ms. Perkins offered “no evidence of any measurements taken of those components as built.” (Appellant Brief, p. 12) In fact, Defendant argues that Ms. Perkins can only speculate as to the dimensions and measurements of the components of this drainage structure. *Id.* However, the record unequivocally reveals that this is inaccurate. Ms. Perkins submitted into evidence design plans for “SCDOT Standard Drawing No. 719-9.” (Plaintiff Tr. Ex. 2). The testimony of Mr. Bedenbaugh confirmed that this is the “construction detail for a

catch basin type 15.” (Tr. 39:20-21). He further indicated that this is the standardized plans for use across the State and that it was also the type of catch basin in question in this case. (Tr. 40:1-3, 40:13-16). This point was secondarily confirmed by SCDOT employee Michael Holden. (Tr. 56:23-24). Closer examination of those design plan’s notes reveal that the cast iron or steel grate and frame are to be standardized dimensions so that they can be interchangeable. (Plaintiff Tr. Ex. 2). The notes also provide that concrete catch basin walls are to be a standard six inches thick. In short, these plans provide numerous definitive measurements. The trial court appropriately relied on these measurements not just for their exact values, but also in support of the reasonable inferences that could be drawn from them.

When reviewing the pictures in conjunction with the design plans, the court made reasonable inferences as to the width of the overflow gap in question. Examination of the photographs in evidence reveal that the width of the extra material on either side of the overflow, between the edge of the concrete drainage basin and the concrete median barrier, is similar in size to the width of the forty-five degree overflow gap or the flat concrete portion between the forty-five degree overflow and the grate frame, both of which have a cross-section of three inches. Another comparison reveals that the overflow gap is much wider than the width of the openings in the grate itself, which are a standardized measurement of three and a half inches by nine and a quarter inches. Ms. Perkins herself testified that her foot went down in the hole and that she wears a size ten shoe. (Tr. 86:23-25, 87:19 to 88:22). One of her shoes was removed from her foot and displayed to the trial court for examination and reference of size. (Tr. 88). In sum, the Court had multiple references for scale and for making the reasonable inference that this gap constitutes a hazard.

Nonetheless, SCDOT makes the erroneous circuitous argument that because Ms. Perkins did not provide a ruler for scale in the photos, the pictures themselves must be inaccurate and therefore, any reliance on these photos would be speculative. SCDOT goes so far as to say that for any reliance to be made upon the photos, Plaintiff was required to have submitted the testimony of a photogrammetrist, an expert in deriving measurements from images. This contention is without merit. The trial court was sitting as the finder of fact and had the opportunity to consider the angle, perspective, and dimensions of the photographs in the court's decision. A role that most trial courts employ on a daily basis. The trial court understood the limitations of what can and cannot be inferred from the photos submitted into evidence. Ironically, SCDOT employee Mr. Holden provided his own photograph of the drainage culvert and one could easily argue that the width of the gap in that photograph appears even wider than in the photographs provided by Ms. Perkins. (Tr. P. Ex. 7; Tr. D. Ex. 4). After reviewing all the photographs and design specifications that were submitted into evidence, the trial court made the finding that "this particular gap is drastically wider than the analogous opening within the drainage grate itself." (Order, p. 3). This conclusion and finding by the trial court demonstrates the trial court's thorough review of the evidence.

The trial court was the ultimate factfinder in this trial. The Court capably reviewed all the evidence, including the photographs, design plans, and testimony to reach its findings. The trial court made multiple findings of the hazardous nature of this gap that were clearly supported by the facts and evidence in the record.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED AN INVOLUNTARY NON-SUIT AND JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS THAT MS. PERKINS' ACCIDENT WAS REASONABLY FORESEEABLE IN FACT AND IN LAW.

The trial court properly found that SCDOT's negligence was the proximate cause of Ms. Perkins' injuries. "Proximate cause requires proof of both causation in fact and legal cause, which is proved by establishing foreseeability." *Bray v. Marathon Corp.*, 356 S.C. 111, 588 S.E.2d 93, 95 (2003). Causation in fact is proved by establishing the plaintiff's injury would not have occurred 'but for' the defendant's negligence. In this instance, it seems indisputable that Ms. Perkins would not have fallen but for the hole that she stepped into and therefore, the causation in fact is not being challenged by SCDOT.

On the other hand, legal cause turns on the issue of foreseeability. An injury is foreseeable if it is the natural and probable consequence of a breach of duty. *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326, 335 (Ct. App. 2003). Foreseeability is not determined from hindsight, but rather from the defendant's perspective at the time of the alleged breach. *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 345 S.C. 484, 548 S.E.2d 605, 609 (Ct. App. 2001). Furthermore, legal cause is ordinarily a question of fact for the factfinder. Only when the evidence is susceptible to only one inference does it become a matter of law for the court. *Oliver v. South Carolina Dep't. of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 309 S.C. 313, 422 S.E.2d 128, 131 (1992).

In *Oliver*, the Highway Department presented the argument that its negligence was too remote to constitute the legal cause of Mr. Oliver's injuries. *Id.* The Supreme Court was not persuaded by the Highway Department's arguments. *Id.* In that case, Oliver was traveling down a roadway on a motorcycle when another driver traveling in the opposite direction abruptly changed lanes in front of him. *Id.* Oliver collided with the front of that other vehicle's fender. *Id.* Oliver maintained his position on the motorcycle but left the roadway and then collided with a Lincoln Town Car that was extending out over a sidewalk at a used car dealership. *Id.* Oliver

argued that if the Highway Department had not been negligent in failing to keep the right-of-way clear, then the Lincoln Town Car would have been further back in the lot and the collision would have been less severe. *Id.* Just as SCDOT is arguing in the present appeal, the Highway Department claimed that this was an extraordinary event and simply not foreseeable. *Id.* In dismissing those arguments, the Supreme Court relied on the following reasoning:

[I]t is enough that it should have contemplated the probable happening of some accident of this kind, involving bodily injury to others which ought to have been guarded against; ***and the doer of the act cannot shelter himself behind the defense that the actual consequence was one that rarely follows from that particular act.*** He may be held liable for anything which, after the injury is complete, appears to have been a natural and probable consequence of his act or omission.

Id. at 131. (citing *Tobias v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 190 S.C. 181, 2 S.E.2d 686, 688 (1939) (emphasis added). The above quotation refutes the arguments offered by SCDOT that Ms. Perkins' accident was "unpredictable or that which could not be expected to happen," (Appellant Brief, p.18) because in reality, Ms. Perkins' accident was not that extraordinary. The unfortunate reality is that collisions and mechanical malfunctions occur frequently on interstates. In fact, SCDOT's witness, Mr. Bedenbaugh, acknowledged this and he also acknowledged that the roadside environment comes into play in a significant percentage of accidents. (Tr. 37:1 to 38:5). Mr. Bedenbaugh further acknowledged that in designing and maintaining the roadway, it is anticipated that motorists will have emergencies and will have to avail themselves of the shoulders. (Tr. 38:2-5). It is foreseeable that distressed motorists and passengers, persons, first responders, ***SCDOT workers***, contractors, good Samaritans, may have to seek the refuge and safety of either shoulder of the highway. For example, this same scenario could have easily

occurred if a Police officer had pulled up behind Ms. Perkins' broken-down vehicle and then the officer walked up to Ms. Perkins to offer assistance; or perhaps one of SCDOT's own personnel has to remove a piece of tire debris from the roadway and so they traverse the three lanes, grab the debris, and then wait in the center median for an opportunity to return to the opposite shoulder. These are foreseeable examples and first responders, state employees, and other individuals performing these essential functions could also be injured when stepping into this hole on the interstate. For obvious safety reasons, pedestrian traffic is not allowed in this particular area, but to claim that it is not foreseeable is not correct.

SCDOT argues that there is "no reasonable expectation for motorists to stop their vehicles in the center median of an interstate which was not designed for such." (Appellant Brief, p. 19). *Oliver* is once again instructive. In *Oliver*, the Highway Department argued that the sidewalk was intended for pedestrian traffic and thus the only legal causation for injuries due to an obstructed sidewalk could be to pedestrians, not vehicular traffic. *Oliver*, 422 S.E.2d at 131. The Supreme Court was not persuaded and found that testimony by the Highway Department's own witness acknowledged that hazards existed beyond the scope of the intended users of the sidewalk and those hazards included unexpected obstructions to vehicular traffic. *Id.* SCDOT argues that this area was not intended or designed for pedestrian traffic and therefore, pedestrian injuries are not expected or foreseeable. (Appellant Brief, p. 19-20). But an unmarked, unguarded hole in the ground poses a trip hazard to anyone traversing in that area. SCDOT's own witness Michael Holden acknowledged that this scenario was neither unexpected, nor highly extraordinary as argued by SCDOT:

Q. Okay. So people are going to use that drain, drive on it, whatever, walk on it? They're going to drive – they're going to be out there in that lane, correct?

A. I'm not going to say that they're going to be. They could be.

Q. They could be? Okay.

A. Yeah.

Q. They could be out there. It's foreseeable that a car will pull off in that shoulder?

A. They shouldn't, but they could. I mean, it's very unsafe. You know, there's not really enough room to pull a car to the left.

(Tr. 67: 9-20). During examination, Michael Holden was asked what he would do if confronted with a situation in which his vehicle stalled out in the far left lane of the interstate to which he responded:

A. If you're – if your car was absolutely stalled out and you had no other options you would, you know, pull to the – probably, yeah, you would pull to the median or get as much off as you can, but you're not going to be totally off the road. You're still in – you're still in the left lane.

Q. Okay. But you as an individual, you get out of the line of traffic and you'd get up out of the – out of the traffic and out of the way of everybody, right?

A. Um-hum (affirmative)

Q. As quick as you can because you don't want to get hit by a car whizzing by at 70 miles an hour, right?

A. Right. I'm doing the best I can to make it to the right side is what I'm going to do.

(Tr. 68:14 to 69:1). Not surprisingly, this is exactly what Ms. Perkins did:

A. . . . So I said, well, let me get off and call 911. So I called. I told the dispatcher that I was stranded in the middle of the interstate. She said, well, ma'am, get out of that vehicle. She said, get out and get to your far right as far as you can away from traffic.

Q. And that was your intention, was to get – cross all lanes of traffic over to the right-hand shoulder, correct?

A. Yes.

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